
HEARING TO BE CONDUCTED UNDER THE TERMS OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS ACT 1982 

 
 

 

City of Westminster 
 

  
 

Committee Agenda 
 

Title: 
 

 Licensing Sub-Committee (6) 

   

Meeting Date: 
 

 Thursday 11th January, 2018 

   

Time: 
 

 10.00 am 

   

Venue: 
 

 Room 3.1, 3rd Floor, 5 Strand, London, WC2 5HR 

   

Members: 
 

 Councillors: 
 

 

  Melvyn Caplan 
Heather Acton 
Rita Begum 
 

 

 

   

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting 
and listen to the discussion Part 1 of the Agenda. 
 
Admission to the public gallery is via a visitor’s pass which 
is available from the main ground floor reception at 5 Strand 
from 9.30am.  If you have a disability and require any special 
assistance please contact the Committee Officer (details 
listed below) in advance of the meeting. 
 

   

T
 

 An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone 
wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter.  If you require 
any further information, please contact the Committee 
Officer, Jonathan Deacon. 
 
Email: jdeacon@westminster.gov.uk  Tel: 020 7641 2783 
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 

http://www.westminster.gov.uk/


 

 

Note for Members: Members are reminded that Officer contacts are shown at the end of 
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.  
With regard to item 2, guidance on declarations of interests is included in the Code of 
Governance; if Members and Officers have any particular questions they should contact 
the Head of Committee and Governance Services in advance of the meeting please. 
 

AGENDA 

PART 1 (IN PUBLIC)  

1.   MEMBERSHIP  

 To report any changes to the membership and to appoint a 
Chairman. 
 

 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive declarations by Members and Officers of any personal 
or prejudicial interests in matters on this agenda. 
 

 

 Licensing Applications for Determination 
 

 

1.   THE WINDMILL, 17-19 GREAT WINDMILL STREET, W1 (Pages 1 - 78) 

 App 

No 

Ward  Site Name 

and 

Address 

Application Licensing 

Reference 

Number 

1. West End 

Ward / 

Core CAZ 

North 

The 

Windmill, 

17-19 

Great 

Windmill 

Street, W1 

Renewal 

application 

– Sexual 

Entertainme

nt Venue 

premises 

licence 

16/09992/LISE
VR 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 

 

2.   SUNSET STRIP, BASEMENT, 30 DEAN STREET, W1 (Pages 79 - 
114) 

 App 

No 

Ward  Site Name 

and 

Address 

Application Licensing 

Reference 

Number 

2. West End 

Ward / 

Core CAZ 

North 

Sunset 

Strip, 

Basement, 

30 Dean 

Street, W1 

Renewal 

application 

– Sexual 

Entertainme

nt Venue 

premises 

licence 

17/10883/LISE
VR 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
Stuart Love 
Interim Chief Executive 
5 January 2018 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 Licensing Sub-Committee 

 
 
Meeting: Licensing Sub-Committee 

Date: 11th January 2018 

Classification: General Release 

Premises: The Windmill, 17-19 Great Windmill Street, London, 
W1D 7LQ 

16/09992/LISEVR 

Wards Affected: West End, Core CAZ North 

Financial Summary: None 

Report of:  Operational Director for Premises Management 

 
1. Executive Summary 

1.1 The council has received a renewal application of the sexual entertainment 
venue premises licence from The Windmill, 17-19 Great Windmill Street, London, 
W1D 7LQ. The report sets out the application details, objections, policy and legal 
context along with other considerations that the Committee requires to determine 
this application. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 That following consideration of the information given orally at the hearing and in 
writing by the applicants and objectors to: 

 
2.1.1 Grant the applications in full 
2.1.2   Grant the applications subject to the standard conditions and/or any 

modifications to any part of the application and imposition of any additional 
conditions proposed by a party to the hearing, or 

2.1.3 Refuse the applications 
 

 

 

 

page 1

Agenda Item 1



3. Application  

3.1 On 26th September 2017 the applicant applied to renew the sexual entertainment 
venue premises licence to provide full nudity striptease, pole dancing and table 
dancing between the hours of 09:00 to 05:30 on each of the days Monday to 
Saturday and 14:00 to 03:00 on Sunday. The applicant has not requested to 
change the relevant entertainment or to remove any standard conditions to the 
licence if the application is granted. A copy of the application is attached as 
Appendix A1.   

4. Objections  

4.1 An objection to the application was received on 12th October 2017(attached as 
Appendix B1). 

 
4.2 The objector states that they believe in women’s rights and do not believe in the 

objectification of women. They allege that the club allows groping, pinching and 
slapping of the performers.  

 
4.3  The objector employed covertly ex-police officers to observe what happens within 

the venue. The statements of the observers are attached as Appendix B2.  
 
4.4  Subsequent to the observations, the objector has stated that there are breaches 

to licence conditions and that the current owners and management are not fit and 
proper persons to hold an SEV licence.   

 
4.5  On 14th October 2017 the City Inspectors raised an objection to the application 

based on the submissions from the objection received on 12th October 2017. 
They stated that an investigation into the conduct of the management of this 
venue would be carried out (attached as Appendix B3). 

 
4.6  On 19th December 2017 the City Inspectors provided further submissions to their 

original objection (as attached as Appendix B4). The main points were: 

 As a result of the objector’s submissions, CCTV was requested for the 
date referred to in the statements (7th and 9th September 2017).  

 Contact was made with the venue on 17th October 2017 to progress an 
investigation of the written evidence supplied by the objector and a 
meeting was arranged with interested parties.  

 As the 31 day retention period for CCTV had already passed, these 
images were no longer available. Consequently, CCTV from dates within 
the 31 day period were requested (1st and 5th October 2017).  

 The City Inspectors noted breaches of conditions 17, 21 and 22.  

 As a result of the failings, a second meeting was held and further CCTV 
footage was requested.  

 The further CCTV footage showed breaches of conditions and that a 
camera had been moved since its original fitting and therefore did not 
cover the dance area causing a blind spot.  

page 2



4.7  After a meeting with the applicants on 23rd November 2017, the City Inspector 
has stated that the CCTV covers all areas. They have stated that there has been 
a marked improvement.  

 
4.8  On 20 October 2017 the Licensing Authority raised an objection to the application 

(as attached as Appendix B5). The objection was based on the following 
grounds: 

 Allegations of multiple breaches of conditions on the SEV licence, namely 
conditions 5, 7, 10, 18, 21 & 22 

 Allegations of criminal activity taking place at the premises 
 
4.9  On 4 January 2018 the Licensing Authority provided further submissions to their 

original objection (as attached as Appendix B6). The main points were: 

 A meeting was held at the premises on Tuesday 31 October 2017 to discuss 
the nature of the allegations with the operator. The operator accepted that 
there had been breaches of conditions but denied any criminal activity had 
taken place at the premises.  

 Reference was made to the Licensing Sub-Committee minutes from the 
hearing which took place on 12 June 2012 in relation to the SEV licence 
which was originally granted upon conversion in 2012.  

 The Licensing Authority noted that similar breaches were prevalent in 2012. 

 The Licensing Authority raised concerns to breaches of conditions 17, 20, 22 
and 23.  

 CCTV footage was taken on various dates (1 October 2017, 5 October 2017, 
7 November 2017 and 8 December 2017) which showed breaches of licence 
conditions.  

 The Licensing Authority noted a significant improvement over the course of 
the footage from October to December 2017. However, they state that 
conditions are still being breached. 

 
4.10 On 22 December 2017, the applicant provided a witness statement (as attached 

as Appendix B7).  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 3



5. Licensing Act 2003 Premises Licence 
 
5.1 The table below sets out the current activities and times permitted by the 

premises licence.  
 
5.2 A copy of the current Premises Licence is attached to this report as Appendix C1. 
 
5.3 A copy of the current Sexual Entertainment Venue Licence is attached as 

Appendix C2.  
 

 

Existing Premises Licence (09/02935/LIPV) permitted Licensable Activities 
 

Performance of Dance 
 Monday to Saturday: 09:00 to 05:00  
 
Provision of facilities for Dancing 
 Monday to Saturday: 09:00 to 05:00  
 
Exhibition of a Film 
 Monday to Saturday: 09:00 to 05:00  
 Sunday: 09:00 to 00:00  
 
Provision of facilities for making Music 
 Monday to Saturday: 09:00 to 05:00  
 
Performance of Live Music 
 Monday to Saturday: 09:00 to 05:00  
 
Playing of Recorded Music Unrestricted 
 
Provision of facilities for entertainment of a similar description to making music or 
dancing 
 Monday to Saturday: 09:00 to 05:00  
 
 
Anything of a similar description to Live Music, Recorded Music or Performance of 
Dance 
 Monday to Saturday: 09:00 to 05:00  
 
Performance of a Play 
 Monday to Saturday: 09:00 to 05:00  
 Sunday: 14:00 to 03:00  
 
Private Entertainment consisting of dancing, music or other entertainment of a like 
kind for consideration and with a view to profit  
  Unrestricted 
  
 
 

page 4



Late Night Refreshment: Indoors 
 
Monday to Saturday 23:00 to 05:00 
 

Sale of Alcohol: On and off the premises 
 
Monday to Saturday 10:00 to 05:00  
Sunday 12:00 to 22:30 
 

Non Standard Timings/Seasonal Variations 
 
On New Years Eve the premises can remain open for the purpose of providing regulated 
entertainment from the time when the provision of regulated entertainment must otherwise 
cease on New Years Eve to the time when regulated entertainment can commence on New 
Years Day (or until midnight on New Years Eve where no regulated entertainment takes place 
on New Years Day).  
 

Capacity: 
 

150 
 

Opening hours: 
 
Monday to Saturday 09:00 to 05:30 
Sunday 09:00 to 03:00 
 

 
6. Policy Considerations 
 
6.1 Suitability of applicant – SU1 
 
 The applicant has confirmed in their application that they have not got any 

criminal convictions. The Police have undertaken appropriate checks and have 
made no comments. The Licensing Authority and the City Inspectors have raised 
concerns over the suitability of the applicant which can be found in their 
objections (attached as Appendix B3, Appendix B4 and Appendix B5). 

 
6.2 SEV carried on for the benefit of another person – SU2 
 
 The applicants have confirmed that they will not be carrying out the functions of 

regulated entertainment at this premises for the benefit of another person.  
 
6.3 Appropriate number of SEV in a locality – NO1 
  

The appropriate number of sexual entertainment venues in the relevant localities 
is 25 in the Westminster core CAZ north. As the premises are currently licensed 
this application, if granted, will not exceed 25. 

 

page 5



6.4 Character of the relevant locality – LO1 
 
 The premises are located off of Shaftesbury Avenue along a one way street 

which is known for its high concentration of LA03 premises. There is one school 
within the immediate vicinity and one other sexual entertainment venue just 
outside the immediate vicinity. A map showing the sexual entertainment venues 
within a 100 metre radius along with any faith groups or schools is attached to 
this report (attached as Appendix D1).  

  
 The previous existence of a licence permitting sexual entertainment at a 

premises should not of itself give rise to any expectation that a sexual 
entertainment venue licence will be granted or renewed. In considering the 
appropriateness of a sexual entertainment venue the council is entitled to change 
its view about the character of the locality in which the sexual entertainment 
venue is situated, whether or not there has been a change in the character of the 
locality. Equally, the character of the locality in which the sexual entertainment 
venue is situated, or proposed to be situated, may have changed since the grant 
of previous sexual entertainment venue licences for premises in that locality, 
which would now make a grant or renewal of a licence inappropriate (Para 2.4.15 
SEV Statement of Licensing Policy 2012).  

 
6.5 Use of premises in the vicinity – LO2 
 
 The area is mainly made up of small shop and commercial units with a few 

residential properties. There are a large number of licensed premises in the 
locality. A map showing the residential density and premises within the vicinity is 
attached to this report as Appendix D2.  

 
6.6 Layout, character or condition of the venue – LO3 

The premises is a large venue spread over three floors. The exterior of the 
building displays the name of the premises and has the sign ‘Table Dancing’ 
displayed above the doorway, as well as images showing nudity on the exterior 
of the premises.  

 
7. Legal Implications 
 
7.1 The Licensing Sub-Committee may determine to: 

(a)  Grant the applications in full 
(b) Grant with additional special conditions which the Licensing Sub-

Committee deem appropriate; or 
 (b) Refuse the applications. 
 
7.2 Before refusing to renew a licence, the Licensing Authority shall give the 

applicant an opportunity to appear before and to be heard by the Licensing Sub-
Committee (Para 10(19) Schedule 3 LG(MP)A1982). 

 

page 6



7.3 In considering this application, the Licensing Sub-Committee shall have regard to 
any observations submitted to them by the Chief Officer of Police and any 
objections that have been received in writing within the 28 day consultation 
period (Para 10(18) Schedule 3 LG(MP)A1982). 

 
7.4  This SEV licence expired on 30 September 2017. It is deemed to remain in force 

until the application is either withdrawn or determined. (Para 11(1) Schedule 3 
LG(MP)A1982). 

 
7.5 The Licensing Sub-Committee may refuse to renew a licence for the following 

reasons: 
(a)  that the applicant is unsuitable to hold a licence by reason of having been 

convicted of an offence or for any other reason; 
(b) that if the licence were to be granted the business to which it relates would 

be managed by or carried on for the benefit of a person, other than the 
applicant, who would be refused the grant of such a licence if he made the 
application himself; 

(c)  that the number of sex establishments in the relevant locality at the time the 
application is made is equal to or exceeds the number which the authority 
consider is appropriate for the locality; 

(d)  that the grant or renewal of the licence would be inappropriate, having regard 
–  

  (i) to the character of the relevant locality; or  
  (ii)  to the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put; or  
  (iii)  to the layout, character or condition of the premises, vehicle, vessel 

  or stall in respect of which the application is made.  
 
7.6 If the Licensing Sub-Committee determine to renew a Sexual Entertainment 

Venue licence, the licence will remain subject to the Standard Conditions for 
Sexual Entertainment Venue licences, unless the Sub-Committee determines 
that certain Standard Conditions should be expressly excluded or varied (Para 
13(4) Schedule 3 LG(MP)A1982). 

 
7.7 Should the Licensing Sub-Committee determine to refuse the application for the 

renewal of a licence under Paragraph 12(3)(a) or (b) Schedule 3 LG(MP)A 1982, 
the applicant may appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days beginning with 
the date on which the applicant is notified of the refusal of his application (Para 
27(1) Schedule 3 LG(MP)A1982). 

 
7.8  If the application for renewal is refused, the licence is deemed to remain in force 

until the time for bringing an appeal has expired and if such an appeal is duly 
brought until the determination or abandonment of the appeal. (Para 27(10) 
Schedule 3 LG(MP)A1982). 

 
 
 

page 7



8. Human Rights Act and Equality Implications 
 
8.1  In making a decision consideration will need to be given to the applicant’s rights 

under the European Convention on Human Rights. The right to peaceful 
enjoyment of possessions (Article 1 of the First Protocol) and freedom of 
expression (Article 10) may be relevant. The Home Office Guidance suggests 
that “local authorities would be well advised to consider whether any interference 
with the applicant’s rights under Article 10 or Article 1, Protocol 1 of the European 
Convention on Human Rights is necessary and proportionate for the prevention 
of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or moral or for the protection of 
the rights and freedoms of others, or in the case of Article 1, Protocol 1, can be 
justified in the general interest”.  

 
8.2  The Council in its capacity as Licensing Authority has a duty to have regard to its 

public sector equality duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. In 
summary, section 149 provides that a Public Authority must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to:  

 
(a) eliminate discrimination harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under this Act;  
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristics and persons who do not share it.  
 
Section 149 (7) of the Equality Act 2010 defines the relevant protected 
characteristics as age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 8



Appendices 
  

A1 – Application Form 
 B1 – Objection 

B2 – Statements from ex-police officers 
B3 – City Inspector objection 
B4 – City Inspector’s further submission 
B5 – Licensing Authority objection 
B6 – Licensing Authority further submission 
B7 – Applicant witness statement 
C1 – Current Licensing Act 2003 Premises Licence 
C2 – Current Sexual Entertainment Licence  
D1 – Map showing Sexual Entertainment Venues, faith groups and schools     
within a 100m radius of the premises  
D2 – Map of the locality 

 

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any of the 
Background Papers  please contact: Daisy Gadd on 020 7641 6500 or at 

dgadd@westminster.gov.uk 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 
Policing and Crime Act 2009 
Sexual Entertainment Venues Statement of Licensing Policy 2012 
Sexual Entertainment Venues Guidance and Procedure effective 17 February 2012 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 9

mailto:dgadd@westminster.gov.uk


Application                      Appendix A1  
 

 

page 10



 

page 11



 

page 12



 

page 13



 

page 14



 

page 15



page 16



Objection               Appendix B1  
 

 

page 17



Statements from ex-Police officers                  Appendix B2 
 

 

page 18



 

page 19



 

page 20



 

page 21



 

page 22



 

page 23



 

page 24



 

page 25



 

page 26



 

page 27



 

page 28



 

page 29



 

page 30



 

page 31



 

page 32



 

page 33



 

page 34



 

page 35



page 36



City Inspector objection                             Appendix B3 
 
 

CITY OF WESTMINSTER 
 
PREMISES LICENSING INSPECTOR 

 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO  Ms Daisy Gadd 
  Licensing Service 
  22nd Floor Portland Place 
 
LI REF  17/10780/LISEVR    
 
FROM  Glyn Franks 
  020 7641 4427 
  City Inspectors 
  Public Protection and Licensing 
  23rd Floor Portland Place 
                                               gfranks@westminster.gov.uk 
 
 REF  17/33330/ELREAC 
 

 
 
RE  The Windmill, 17-19 Great Windmill Street 
 
I refer to the application for the renewal of the SEV Licence. 
 
I would respectfully raise an objection to this renewal on the basis of recent 
submissions, received at WCC on the 13th of October. 
 
Following these submissions, there will be an investigation into the conduct of the 
management of this venue. 
 
I will update you with further information, or to withdraw this objection, as soon as 
reasonably practicable 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
Glyn Franks 
 

page 37



City Inspector further submission                         Appendix B4 
 

CITY OF WESTMINSTER 
 
PREMISES LICENSING INSPECTOR 

 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO  Ms Daisy Gadd 
  Licensing Service 
  22nd Floor Portland Place 
 
LI REF  17/10780/LISEVR    
 
FROM  Glyn Franks 
  020 7641 4427 
  City Inspectors 
  Public Protection and Licensing 
  23rd Floor Portland Place 
                                               gfranks@westminster.gov.uk 
 
REF  17/33330/ELREAC 
 
Date  19 December 2017 
 
 
RE  The Windmill, 17-19 Great Windmill Street 
 
Further to my original memo dated the 14th of October 2017, regarding the renewal of 
the SEV Licence.  
 
I wish to retain my objection on the following grounds. 
 
As a result of the submissions dated the 13th of October, I arranged for contact be made 
with The Windmill on the 14th of October in order for me to obtain CCTV images as 
referred to in the statements (7th and 9th of September); however, this was beyond the 
31 day period as required by the Licence and the ordinary working practices of most 
organisations, and the images were no longer available. 
 
Contact was made with the venue on the 17th of October to progress an investigation of 
the written evidence supplied by the objectors. In order to include all interested parties, 
a meeting with the venue was not possible until the 31st of October.  
 

page 38



The attendees of this meeting included; the Club owner, the DPS, their legal 
representative, a Police Officer from the Westminster Licensing team; two officers from 
the WCC Licensing service and myself. 
 
A broad discussion took place around the objection, the contents of the statements and 
the likelihood of a LSC hearing; how the management have already responded to the 
contents of the statements and their future remedial actions intended to address any 
issues identified.  
 
As part of my investigations, I requested sample images of CCTV, on dates within the 
current 31 day period, (the 1st and 5th of October), from two of the cameras covering the 
private dance areas. I collected a memory stick containing those images on the 2nd of 
November. 
 
I viewed the CCTV images from the cameras numbered 9 and 14 over a two day 
working period; on the 3rd and 6th of November.  
 
In my opinion, I witnessed conduct that reflected clear breaches of conditions; 17, 21 
and 22 of the Licence 16/09992/LISEVR.  
 
Specifically; clear and prolonged contact between the customer and the performer, 
inappropriate contact between the performer and the customer; as well as little, or no 
supervision of the dance areas by the SIA staff placed and employed for that purpose. 
 
I witnessed conduct very similar to that described in the statements of those objecting to 
the renewal application; although not necessarily the same performers.  
 
In excess of 50% of the dances would reflect breaches, or cause for concern. 
 
I also witnessed private dances, where the performers acted completely properly, within 
the conditions and spirit of the Licence.  
 
As a result of the failings I identified, I attended the club on the night of the 8th of 
November and spoke with the DPS / named responsible person to request a further 
meeting with the management together with their legal representative. A meeting was 
arranged for the 14th of November. 
 
I also requested more CCTV recordings from the night of the 6th into the 7th, this time I 
asked for all the cameras that cover the private dance areas.  
 
The further images were required to show the situation now; following the receipt of the 
objection, as well as our meeting and the remedial measures put into place. 
 
On the 14th of November, I met the DPS / named responsible person, the owner and the 
solicitor in the manager’s office. We reviewed the images that I believed from my 
previous viewings, reflected the more serious breaches of the Licence.  

page 39



 
There was a common consensus among us all, that the dances reflected poorly on 
behalf of the management and the performers. Remedial action had already been taken 
in some instances and further action was required. I asked to be included in the 
specifics of all the actions undertaken by the club.  
I also collected the CCTV images from the 7th of November.  
 
I reviewed the images from the 7th of November on the 18th; cameras 9,10, 13, 14 and 
15 showed that a number of dances took place, without any breach taking place. The 
images also showed interventions by the DPS and the SIA staff present. In my opinion 
the interventions were prior to an offence being committed, but reflected good 
management. It also showed that the club were conducting live monitoring of theses 
dance areas via CCTV. 
 
However, during this process, I noticed that camera 15 did not show the dance area 
adequately, it appeared that the position of the camera had been moved since its 
original fitting. 
 
On the 23rd November, I returned to the club and spoke with the DPS, when I pointed 
out the camera blind spot, I was informed that this had already been identified and 
addressed.  
 
We viewed the camera monitor together; I could see that all the areas were adequately 
covered, I could also see that there had been an overhaul of all CCTV cameras; with 
some numbers now changed, but the images were comprehensive. 
 
I was also given a bundle of documents which showed a variety of actions undertaken 
by the management since the first meeting on the 31st of October. 
 
In order to ensure a continuing course of management, I allowed a short period, with no 
contact between WCC and The Windmill, before I requested another set of images from 
the 8th of December, 01.00 until 03.00, again including all 5 cameras covering the 
private dance areas.  
 
Subsequently, I have reviewed all the CCTV images from cameras 2,4,6,10 and 14. In 
excess of 40 private dances take place; all of which complied with the conditions of the 
SEV Licence.  
 
There is a marked improvement in the activity of SIA staff patrolling, responding to 
instructions and talking to customers, as well as performers. There was no contact 
between the customer and the performer. Some furniture has been removed from the 
dance areas, which is a measure of management intervention, to ease their own 
regulation of the dances. 
 

page 40



As an enforcement officer, I have not yet finalised my investigation of the breaches 
identified on the 1st and 5th of October, and intend to take the outcome of the 
forthcoming renewal hearing into account when making an enforcement decision.  
 
I intend to attend the renewal hearing, in the event the licensing sub-committee have 
any questions in relation to the information contained in this memorandum. 
  
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
Glyn Franks 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 41



Licensing Authority objection                               Appendix B5 
 
 
Dear Mr O’Maoileoin, 
 
Please accept this email as a formal objection on behalf of the Licensing Authority 
against the SEV renewal application for the above premises.  
 
The licence holder, Big Country Ltd, has applied to renew the Sexual Entertainment 
Venue licence for The Windmill, 17-19 Great Windmill Street, London, W1D 7LQ under 
Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982. Under 
paragraph 10(15) of that schedule, the Licensing Authority objects to this renewal 
application on the following grounds: 
 

 Allegations of multiple breaches of conditions on the SEV licence, namely conditions 5, 7, 10, 18, 
21 & 22 

 Allegations of criminal activity taking place at the premises 

 
Paragraph 12(3)(a) of Schedule 3 states that the Licensing Authority may refuse to 
renew the SEV licence on the grounds that the applicant is unsuitable to hold the 
licence by reason of having been convicted of an offence or for any other reason 
(emphasis added).  
 
The Licensing Authority has received information from the public alleging multiple 
breaches of licence conditions and criminal activity. It is the Licensing Authority’s 
assertion that, pending an investigation into the allegations above, the licence holder / 
applicant is unsuitable to hold a licence having allegedly permitted multiple breaches of 
licence conditions and having allegedly permitted criminal activity from taking place at 
the premises. The nature and severity of the alleged breaches raises serious concerns 
with the Licensing Authority regarding the licence holder’s ability to operate the 
premises in line with the conditions attached to the SEV licence. 
 
As a direct consequence of these allegations, the Licensing Authority raises this 
objection to the SEV licence renewal. Pending the outcome of an investigation into 
these allegations, the Licensing Authority reserves the right to enhance or amend this 
objection. 

 
Kind regards, 

Nick Nelson  
Senior Licensing Officer  

 
 
 
 

page 42



Licensing Authority further submission              Appendix B6 
 

 

page 43



 
 
 

page 44



 
 
 
 
 

page 45



 
 
 

page 46



Applicant witness statement                                 Appendix B7 
 

 

page 47



 

page 48



 

page 49



 

page 50



 

page 51



 

page 52



 

page 53



 

page 54



 

page 55



Current Licensing Act 2003 Premises Licence                    Appendix C1 
 

 

page 56



 

page 57



 

page 58



 

page 59



 

page 60



 

page 61



 

page 62



 

page 63



 

page 64



 

page 65



 

page 66



 

page 67



 

page 68



 

page 69



 

page 70



 

page 71



Current Sexual Entertainment Venue Licence                     Appendix C2 
 

 

page 72



 

page 73



 

page 74



 

page 75



 

page 76



Map of SEVS, faith groups and schools in the locality       Appendix D1 
 

 

page 77



Map of the locality            Appendix D2 
 

 
Resident count = 253 

page 78



 

 Licensing Sub-Committee 

 
 
Meeting: Licensing Sub-Committee 

Date: 11th January 2018 

Classification: General Release 

Premises: Sunset Strip, Basement, 30 Dean Street, W1D 3SA 

17/10883/LISEVR 

Wards Affected: West End, Core CAZ North 

Financial Summary: None 

Report of:  Operational Director for Premises Management 

 
1. Executive Summary 

1.1 The council has received a renewal application of the sexual entertainment 
venue premises licence for Sunset Strip, Basement, 30 Dean Street, W1D 3SA. 
The report sets out the application details, representations, policy and legal 
context along with other considerations that the Committee requires to determine 
this application. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 That following consideration of the information given orally at the hearing and in 
writing by the applicants and objectors to: 

 
2.1.1 Grant the applications in full 
2.1.2   Grant the applications subject to the standard conditions and/or any 

modifications to any part of the application and imposition of any additional 
conditions proposed by a party to the hearing, or 

2.1.3 Refuse the applications 
 

3. Application 2017 

3.1 On 29th September 2017 the applicant applied to renew the sexual entertainment 
venue premises licence to provide striptease, pole dancing and table dancing 

 

page 79

Agenda Item 2



involving full and partial nudity between the hours of 09:00 to 01:00 on each of 
the days Monday to Saturday and 09:00 to 23:00 on Sunday. The applicant has 
not requested to change the relevant entertainment or to remove any standard 
conditions to the licence if the application is granted. A copy of the application is 
attached as Appendix A1.   

4. Objections  

4.1 An objector submitted an objection (attached as Appendix B1) within the 
statutory 28 day consultation period stating a number of issues with the 
application namely: 

 

 The venue is not in keeping with the area 

 The venue has an open frontage visible to the public 

 The girls are outside the venue smoking on the street 

 The venue lacks discretion 

 Other venues meet a higher standard than this one 
 
NOTE: On initial submission of these comments, the objector did not indicate 

whether this was a formal objection to the application or generalised 
comments. Therefore, the Licensing Service contacted the objector to confirm 
whether this was a formal objection to the renewal application.  

 
4.2  On 3 November 2017, the objector confirmed that their submission was to be 

considered as a formal objection to this application. The objector has stated that 
there is no objection to an SEV in this neighbourhood in principle, and no 
objection to renewal provided the issues identified are addressed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 80



5. Licensing Act 2003 Premises Licence 
 
5.1 The table below sets out the current activities and times permitted by the 

premises licence.  
 
5.2 A copy of the current Premises Licence is attached to this report as Appendix C1. 
 
5.3 A copy of the current Sexual Entertainment Licence is attached at Appendix C2.  
 
 

 
Existing Premises Licence (09/07575/LIPV) permitted Licensable Activities 

 

Performance of Dance 
 Monday to Saturday: 09:00 to 01:00  
 Sunday: 09:00 to 23:00  
 
Provision of facilities for Dancing 
 Monday to Saturday: 09:00 to 01:00  
 Sunday: 09:00 to 23:00  
 
Provision of facilities for making Music 
 Monday to Saturday: 09:00 to 01:00  
 Sunday: 09:00 to 23:00  
 
Performance of Live Music 
 Monday to Saturday: 09:00 to 01:00  
 Sunday: 09:00 to 23:00  
 
Playing of Recorded Music 
 Monday to Sunday: 09:00 to 09:00  
 
Provision of facilities for entertainment of a similar description to making music or 
dancing 
 Monday to Saturday: 09:00 to 01:00  
 Sunday: 09:00 to 23:00  
 
Anything of a similar description to Live Music, Recorded Music or Performance of 
Dance 
 Monday to Saturday: 09:00 to 01:00  
 Sunday: 09:00 to 23:00  
 
Private Entertainment consisting of dancing, music or other entertainment of a like 
kind for consideration and with a view to profit Unrestricted 
 

Late Night Refreshment: Indoors 
 
 Monday to Saturday: 23:00 to 01:30  
 Sunday: 23:00 to 01:00  
 

page 81



Sale of Alcohol: On and off the premises 
 

Monday to Saturday: 10:00 to 01:00  
 Saturday: 10:00 to 00:30  
 Sunday: 12:00 to 00:30  
 

Non Standard Timings/Seasonal Variations 
 
On New Year's Eve the premises can remain open for the purpose of providing regulated 
entertainment from the time when the provision of regulated entertainment must otherwise 
cease on New Year's Eve to the time when regulated entertainment can commence on New 
Year's Day (or until midnight on New Year's Eve where no regulated entertainment takes 
place on New Year's Day). 
 

Opening hours: 
 
Monday to Saturday: 09:00 to 01:30 
Sunday: 09:00 to 00:00 
 

 
 
6. Policy Considerations 
 
6.1 Suitability of applicant – SU1 
 

The applicant has stated that no relevant offences have been committed. In 
addition, the Police and the Council’s Licensing Inspectorate have carried out fit 
and proper persons checks and have not made any objections to the application. 

 
6.2 SEV carried on for the benefit of another person – SU2 
 
 The Police and the Council’s Licensing Inspectorate have undertaken 

appropriate checks and have made no comments. 
 
6.3 Appropriate number of SEV in a locality – NO1 
  

The appropriate number of sexual entertainment venues in the relevant localities 
is 25 in the Westminster core CAZ north. As the premises are currently licensed 
this application, if granted, will not exceed 25. 

 
6.4 Character of the relevant locality – LO1 
 
 These premises are located in a busy public thoroughfare which is the main 

arterial route into East Soho for vehicles. The area surrounding this premises are 
busy in the evening with pedestrian and vehicular movements through Soho. A 
map showing the sexual entertainment venues within a 100 metre radius along 
with any faith groups or schools is attached to this report (attached as Appendix 
D1). 

page 82



 
 The previous existence of a licence permitting sexual entertainment at a 

premises should not of itself give rise to any expectation that a sexual 
entertainment venue licence will be granted or renewed. In considering the 
appropriateness of a sexual entertainment venue the council is entitled to change 
its view about the character of the locality in which the sexual entertainment 
venue is situated, whether or not there has been a change in the character of the 
locality. Equally, the character of the locality in which the sexual entertainment 
venue is situated, or proposed to be situated, may have changed since the grant 
of previous sexual entertainment venue licences for premises in that locality, 
which would now make a grant or renewal of a licence inappropriate (Para 2.4.15 
SEV Statement of Licensing Policy 2012). 

 
6.5 Use of premises in the vicinity – LO2 
 
 The premises around the applicant’s premises are a combination of mixed use 

premises. A map showing the residential density and premise within the vicinity is 
attached to this report as Appendix D2.  

 
6.6 Layout, character or condition of the venue – LO3 

This premises is a small venue split over the ground floor and basement. The 
ground floor comprises of the main entrance and a bar with some seating areas. 
The basement consists of a dance floor and five open plan booths around the 
exterior.  

 
7. Legal Implications 
 
7.1 The Licensing Sub-Committee may determine to: 

(a)  Grant the applications in full 
(b) Grant with additional special conditions which the Licensing Sub-

Committee deem appropriate; or 
 (b) Refuse the applications. 
 
7.2 Before refusing to renew a licence, the Licensing Authority shall give the 

applicant an opportunity to appear before and to be heard by the Licensing Sub-
Committee (Para 10(19) Schedule 3 LG(MP)A1982). 

 
7.3 In considering this application, the Licensing Sub-Committee shall have regard to 

any observations submitted to them by the Chief Officer of Police and any 
objections that have been received in writing within the 28 day consultation 
period (Para 10(18) Schedule 3 LG(MP)A1982). 

 
7.4  This SEV licence expired on 30 September 2017. It is deemed to remain in force 

until the application is either withdrawn or determined. (Para 11(1) Schedule 3 
LG(MP)A1982).  

 

page 83



 
 
 
7.5 The Licensing Sub-Committee may refuse to renew a licence for the following 

reasons: 
(a)  that the applicant is unsuitable to hold a licence by reason of having been 

convicted of an offence or for any other reason; 
(b) that if the licence were to be granted the business to which it relates would 

be managed by or carried on for the benefit of a person, other than the 
applicant, who would be refused the grant of such a licence if he made the 
application himself; 

(c)  that the number of sex establishments in the relevant locality at the time the 
application is made is equal to or exceeds the number which the authority 
consider is appropriate for the locality; 

(d)  that the grant or renewal of the licence would be inappropriate, having regard 
–  

  (i) to the character of the relevant locality; or  
  (ii)  to the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put; or  
  (iii)  to the layout, character or condition of the premises, vehicle, vessel 

  or stall in respect of which the application is made.  
 
7.6 If the Licensing Sub-Committee determine to renew a Sexual Entertainment 

Venue licence, the licence will remain subject to the Standard Conditions for 
Sexual Entertainment Venue licences, unless the Sub-Committee determines 
that certain Standard Conditions should be expressly excluded or varied (Para 
13(4) Schedule 3 LG(MP)A1982). 

 
7.7 Should the Licensing Sub-Committee determine to refuse the application for the 

renewal of a licence under Paragraph 12(3)(a) or (b) Schedule 3 LG(MP)A 1982, 
the applicant may appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days beginning with 
the date on which the applicant is notified of the refusal of his application (Para 
27(1) Schedule 3 LG(MP)A1982). 

 
7.8  If the application for renewal is refused, the licence is deemed to remain in force 

until the time for bringing an appeal has expired and if such an appeal is duly 
brought until the determination or abandonment of the appeal. (Para 27(10) 
Schedule 3 LG(MP)A1982). 

 
8. Human Rights Act and Equality Implications 
 
8.1  In making a decision consideration will need to be given to the applicant’s rights 

under the European Convention on Human Rights. The right to peaceful 
enjoyment of possessions (Article 1 of the First Protocol) and freedom of 
expression (Article 10) may be relevant. The Home Office Guidance suggests 
that “local authorities would be well advised to consider whether any interference 
with the applicant’s rights under Article 10 or Article 1, Protocol 1 of the European 

page 84



Convention on Human Rights is necessary and proportionate for the prevention 
of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or moral or for the protection of 
the rights and freedoms of others, or in the case of Article 1, Protocol 1, can be 
justified in the general interest”.  

 
8.2  The Council in its capacity as Licensing Authority has a duty to have regard to its 

public sector equality duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. In 
summary, section 149 provides that a Public Authority must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to:  

 
(a) eliminate discrimination harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under this Act;  
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristics and persons who do not share it.  
 
Section 149 (7) of the Equality Act 2010 defines the relevant protected 
characteristics as age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

 
 
Appendices 
A1 – Application form      

 B1 – Objection 
C1 – Current Licensing Act 2003 Premises Licence 
C2 – Current Sexual Entertainment Licence 
D1 – Map showing Sexual Entertainment Venues, faith groups and schools 
within a 100m radius of the premises  
D2 – Map of the locality 

 

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any of the 
Background Papers  please contact: Daisy Gadd on 020 7641 6500 or at 

dgadd@westminster.gov.uk 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 
Policing and Crime Act 2009 
Sexual Entertainment Venues Statement of Licensing Policy 2012 
Sexual Entertainment Venues Guidance and Procedure effective 17 February 2012 
 
 
 
 

page 85

mailto:dgadd@westminster.gov.uk


Application form            Appendix A1 
 

 

page 86



 

page 87



 

page 88



 

page 89



 

page 90



 

page 91



 

page 92



Objection                                Appendix B1 
 

 

page 93



Current Licensing Act 2003 Premises Licence                    Appendix C1 
 

 

page 94



 

page 95



 

page 96



 

page 97



 

page 98



 

page 99



 

page 100



 

page 101



 

page 102



 

page 103



 

page 104



 

page 105



 

page 106



 

page 107



Current Sexual Entertainment Licence                                 Appendix C2 
 

 

page 108



 

page 109



 

page 110



 

page 111



Map of SEVS, faith groups and schools in the locality       Appendix D1 
 

 

page 112



Map of the locality            Appendix D2 
 

 
Resident count = 229 

page 113



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 The Windmill, 17-19 Great Windmill Street, W1
	2 Sunset Strip, Basement, 30 Dean Street, W1

